BEFORE THE
BOARD OF PHARMACY
DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS
STATE OF CALIFORNIA

In the Matter of the Accusation Against:
Case No. 4935
MIKA SOLIZ,

. OAH No. 2015010084
Pharmacy Technician License
No, TCH 24839

Respondent.

DECISION
AFTER REJECTION OF PROPOSED DECISION

Pursuant to section 11517 of the Government Code, on October 7, 2015, the California
State Board of Pharmacy (hereinafter "board") issued an Order rejecting the June 30, 2015,
Proposed Decision of the Administrative Law Judge in the above-entitled matter,

On December 2, 2015, the parties were notified that the transcript had been received and
the deadline for the parties to submit written argument was set for January 4, 2016, Written
argument was received in a timely manner from the complainant. No argument was received
from respondent.

The Board, having reviewed and considered the entire record, including the transcript,
exhibits and written argument, now issues this decision.

The June 30, 2015, Proposed Decision is adopted as the Board’s Decision in this matter™

but the Order on page 14 is revised to read as follows:
A. The Order itself is amended to read:

ORDER

No later than six (6) months from the effective date of this
Decision, respondent Mika Renee Soliz (TCH 24839) shall both
apply for license reissuance as a pharmacy technician and
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complete the Condition Precedent outlined below. Upon
satisfaction of those conditions and all statutory and regulatory
requirements, a license shall be issued to respondent and be
immediately revoked. The order of revocation is, however, stayed,
and the license placed on probation for a period of three (3) years,
subject to the terms and conditions below.

B. Condition 1 is amended to read:

1 CONDITION PRECEDENT: Certification Required
Prior to Issuance of License

Respondent’s license as a pharmacy technician shall not be
re-issued until she is certified as defined by Business and
Professions Code section 4202(a)(4) and provides satisfactory
proof of certification to the board. Respondent shall not resume
working as a pharmacy technician under this Decision until
notified by the board that her license has been re-issued.

C. Conditions 2 through 20 of the Proposed Decision are applied as expressed therein without
changes.

This Decision shall become effective at 5:00 p.m. on April 8, 2016.
1t is so ORDERED on March 9, 2016.

BOARD OF PHARMACY
DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS
STATE OF CALIFORNIA
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By

Amy Gutierrez, Pharm.D.
Board President
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BEFORE THE
BOARD OF PHARMACY
DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS
STATE OF CALIFORNIA

In the Matter of the Accusation Against:
MIKA RENEE SOLIZ - Case No. 4935
Pharmacy Technician Registration No. OAH No. 2015010084
TCH 24839

Respondent.

TO ALL PARTIES AND THEIR ATTORNEY OF RECORD:
ORDER SETTING DATE FOR SUBMISSION OF WRITTEN ARGUMENT

The administrative record of the hearing in the above-entitled matter having now
become available, the parties are hereby notified of the opportunity to submit written argument
in accordance with the Order Rejecting the Proposed Decision dated October 7, 2015, In
addition to any arguments the parties may wish to submit, the board is interested in argument
directed at the following issue: If cause for discipline exists, what penalty, if any, should be
applied in this case.

Pursuant to said Order written argument shall be filed with the Board of Pharmacy, 1625
N. Market Blvd, Suite N-219, Sacramento, California, on or before January 4, 2016. No new
evidence may be submitted.

IT IS SO ORDERED this 2™ day of December 2015.

Amy Gutierrez, Pharm.D.
Board President




BEFORE THE

BOARD OF PHARMACY
DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AIFAIRS
STATE OF CALIFORNIA

In the Matter of the Accusation Against:
MIKA RENEE SOLIZ

Pharmacy Technician Registration No.
TCH 24839,

Respondent,

Case No, 4935

OAH No. 2015010084

ORDER REJECTING PROPOSED DECISION

Pursuant to section 11517 of the Government Code, the Proposed Decision of the
Administrative Law Judge in the above-entitled matter is rejected. The California State Board of
Pharmacy (hereinafter "board") will decide the case upon the record, including the transcript(s)
of the hearing, and upon such written argument as the parties may wish to submit.

The board is particularly interested in arguments directed to the question whether the
discipline should be increased. The parties will be notified of the date for submission of such
argument when the transcript of the above-mentioned hearing becomes available.

It is so ORDERED on October 7, 2015,

BOARD OF PHARMACY

DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS
STATE OF CALIFORNIA

By

Amy Gutierrez, Pharm.D.
Board President
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BEFORE THE
BOARD OF PHARMACY
DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS
STATE OF CALIFORNIA

In the Matter of the Accusation Against:
Case No. 4935
MIKA RENEE SOLIZ

‘ ' : (QAH No. 2015010084
Pharmacy Technician Registration
No. TCH 24839

Respondent.

PROPOSED DECISION

Administrative Law Judge Vallera J. Johnson, State of California, Office of
Administrative Hearings, heard this matter in Riverside, California, on June 2, 2015.

Christina Thomas, Deputy Attorney General, California Department of Justice,
represented complainant Virginia Herold, Executive Officer of the Board of Pharmacy,
Department of Consumer Affairs. ‘

Respondent Mika Renee Soliz represented herself.

The matter was submitted on June 2, 2015.

FACTUAL FINDINGS

1. On January 15, 1998, the Board of Pharmacy issued Pharmacy Technician
Registration No. TCH 24839 to Mika Rene Soliz (respondent.) At all times relevant herein,
said registration was in full force and effect; it expired on May 31, 2013, and was cancelled
on September 1, 2013.

2. Virginia Herold filed Accusation Case No. 4935 in her official capacity as
Executive Officer of the Board of Pharmacy (board), Department of Consumer Affairs.

Respondent filed a Notice of Defense and requested a hearing in this matter.
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Respondent’s Conviction of a Substantially Related Crime

3. On May 29, 2013, in the case entitled The People of the State of California v.
Mika Renee Soliz (Super. Ct, San Bernardino County, 2013, No. MVA1301068), on her plea
of guilty, respondent was convicted of one misdemeanor count of violating Penal Code
section 484, subdivision (a)[petty theft]. As a consequence, the Court sentenced respondent
to serve two days in San Bernardino County Jail and placed her on probation with terms and
conditions.

4. The facts and circumstances underlying the conviction are that, on December
21, 2012, while working as a pharmacy technician at Super Rx Pharmacy in Fontana,
California, respondent entered the stock aisles and selected a bottle of medication from the
shelf. Respondent returned to the couriter, opened the container, and poured the contents on
the counter; then she put the pills back into the container without filling a prescription.
Respondent repeated the acts with a bottle of Hydrocodone/APAP, concealing some of the
pills in her hand; then she went to the back of the pharmacy before returning the container to
the shelf. The store investigator detained respondent and questioned her about the pills.
Respondent admitted that she removed two types of medication from the pharmacy without
having a prescription for the medication or permission to take them. Respondent stated that
she had ingested eight pills of Ondanestron and that she had placed in her pocket five
Hydrocodone/APAP 10-325. She admitted that she immediately consumed the medications.

Subscquently, respondent was arrcsted for violating Penal Code section 503
[embezzlement] and Health and Safety Code section 11350, subdivision (a) funlawful
possession of a controlled substance]. During the booking process, when asked if she had
any other pills in her possession, respondent handed the law enforcement officer a
prescription bottle from ber purse, which read Methocarbamol 500 mg with her name on it;
that bottle contained 19 tables of Hydrocodone/APAP 10-325 that she had taken from the
pharmacy on a different day. In addition, respondent provided law enforcement with another
bottle that read Ondansetron HCL 4 mg., which contained Lorazepam pills. Respondent
admitted that she had stolen medications from the pharmacy since July 2012.

5. Respondent’s conviction of petty theft is substantially related to the
qualifications or duties of a pharmacy technician.

Acts Involving Moral Turpitude, Dishoneéty, Fraud or Deceit:.. -

6. On December 21, 2012, respondent committed acts involving moral turpitude,
dishonesty, fraud and deceit with the intent to substantially benefit her.

[llegal Possession of a Controlled Substance

7. On December 21, 2012, respondent was in illegal possession of a controlled
substance.




Use/Under the Influence of Controlled Substance

8.

By her own admission, respondent took five Hydrocodone pills from her place

of employment and immediately consumed these pills.

Evidence of Explanation, Mitigation and Rehabilitation

9.

Respondent provided evidence of explanation, mitigation and rehabilitation.

. Respondent admitted her misconduct, acknowledged that
she made a mistake, and expressed remorse for her misconduct,

. In 2003, respondent was diagnosed with lupus. Asa
consequence, she was referred to a pain management doctor
who prescribed controlled substances to treat her pain. Prior to
the date of her arrest, respondent realized that the controlled
substances were not providing her sufficient relief from the
pain; she was addicted to pills, and was in the process. of
obtaining treatment for her addiction.

. Less than one month after her arrest, on January 15,
2013, respondent entered a 30-day outpatient treatment program
(program) at Loma Linda Behavioral Medicine Center. She
attended all scheduled groups and lectures required by the
program. ‘She completed all assignments in a timely manner and
developed good insight into the disease concept of addiction.
She attended daily 12-step meetings, obtained a 12-step sponsor,
and developed a reliable sobriety support system. She
participated in the chronic pain program, attended pain process
groups, and received massage therapy and acupuncture. She
completed all assignments in the pain workbook and was able to
develop alternative strategies to cope with chronic pain, She
completed the program on February 15, 2013.

At least until April 19, 2013, respondent has followed up with
continuing cate, aftercate and alumni. This schedule was as
follows: on Monday, she attended continning care from 2:45
p.m. — 3:45 p.m., Thursday she attended alumni from 6:00 p.m.
—7:00 p.m., aftercare from 7:00 p.m. — 8:00 p.m. She attended
women’s group on Monday, Wednesday and Friday from 1:00
p.m. —2:30 p.m. She continued to attend five to six 12-step
meetings per week and had daily interaction with her 12-step
SPONSof.




While participating in her primary treatment process, respondent
attended all scheduled groups and lectures, was on time daily,
and was very motivated. All random breathalyzers and drug
screens wete negative.

Respondent has continued her efforts to maintain sobriety. She
has been involved in 12-step meetings continuously since
January 2013. Initially, she attended five to six meetings a
week, reduced her meeting schedule to four meeting a week,
and now attends at least one meeting a week because of work
and school. She has been involved “in service”. She has
participated on panels, led meetings, and maintained a
telationship with her sponsor, who recently moved; respondent
is looking for another sponsor.

. On August 14, 2012, respondent initiated therapy with a
marriage and family therapist; she participates in therapy at least
once a week. Her therapist affirmed respondent’s testimony that
she has learned from this difficult experience and has turned her
life around.

. Respondent clearly understands that she cannot take
controlled substances. She has alterpative treatments for her
chronic pain, such as heat packs, ice packs, and over-the-counter
medication. Her primary care physician and her rheumatologist
are aware that she is a “recovering addict” and know not to
prescribe controlled substances but to ireat her with alternative
methods.

° Respondent believes thal'if she had not been arrested,
she might not be alive today. She has been sober since the date
of her arrest, December 21, 2012. Her family supported her .
through the ordeal and remains intact. Her family means
everything to her. Her family consists of Richard Soliz (Soliz),
her husband, and two children, ages 19 and 12 years. She and
her husband have been married for 13 years: They attend
couples’ therapy once a week.. Her daughter has attended 12-
step meetings with her; as a result, her daughter has gained
some understanding of respondent’s issues. Respondent

- supports her daughter in her daughter’s college career.

. Respondent and her husband described respondent, since
achieving sobriety, as a changed person. Soliz acknowledged
that he was not aware that his wife had a problem with
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controlled substances until she was arrested. Since her sobriety,
she has emerged as the woman with whom he fell in love and
married. He expressed pride in his wife for “pushing forward”
and not letting this situation set her back. He thought she had an
anger management problem. She is happier, kinder, healthier
and no longer angry.

J Respondent has complied with the terms and conditions
of her criminal probation. She completed the Court’s diversion
program, and on January 15, 2015, the Court dismissed the
diverted charge of violating Health & Safety ‘Code section
11350, subdivision (a)[possession of narcotlcs] She has paid all
fines and fees. i :

. " Prior to the misconduct and criminal acts, the board had
licensed respondent more than 13 years without prior complaint
or discipline.

10.  Respondent’s evidence of rehabilitation was impressive. She acknowledged
her wrongdoing and accepted responsibility for her actions. In addition, less than one month
after her arrest, she participated in treatment to the extent necessary to obtain maximum
benefit. She has been sober since the date of her arrest, more than two years. Since her
arrest, she has continued to make a diligent effort to maintain her sobriety. There was no
evidence of relapse. She has a solid familial relationship; she has love and familial support.
In addition to her own testimony and the documentary evidence regarding her rehabilitation
efforts and changes in her life, respondent’s husband testimony was compelling. He was an
intelligent articulate man who clearly loves his wife and has been supportive of her. Though
he had reason to be biased, Soliz’s testimony was candid, compassionate, moving and
persuasive.

11.  Respondent’s registration expired, and she did not renew her registration
within 60 days of expiration. She believed that her registration was automatically revoked
because of the criminal charges and conviction. In addition, she did not have the money to
renew her registration and believed it would be pointless to do so.

Reasonable Costs of Investigation and Enforcement L

|

12. Complalndnt seeks recovery of the costs of investigation ($1,810. 50) and

""-enforcement ($3,262.50) in the amount of $5,072. In support of the foregoing, Complainant

submitted a certified copy of the actual costs of investigation and a declaration from
Christina Thomas, the Deputy attorney General who prosecuted the case.

In support of the costs of investigation, Katherine Sill (Sill), the board’s investigator
and a licensed pharmacist, executed a declaration that set forth the tasks performed, the time
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spent on cach task and the hourly rate. She was assigned the case in November 2012, billed
17.75 hours investigating the matter, which included drafting the investigation report, at the
hourly rate of $102. Sill testified in the proceeding and was available to respond to
questions.

The Deputy Attorney General who prosecuted the case executed a declaration
regarding the costs of prosecution. She was assigned to handle the case on October 17, 2013,
Attached to her declaration is a document entitled “Master Time Activity by Professional
Type.” This document identified the tasks performed, the time spent on each task and the
hourly rate: In 2013, 2014 and 2015, she billed-for 13.25 hours at a rate of $170 per hour for
a total of $2,252.50. Included among the total costs sought were costs for the services of the
supervising-deputy attorney general and two paralegals. Neither of the foregoing executed a=
declaration that set forth the appropriate information, as required by California Code of -
Regulations, title 1, section 1042. As such, cost for services provided by the supervising -
deputy attorney generals and paralegals are not allowed.

13.  Respondent made no objection to the requested costs, but provided evidence of
her inability to pay. Since her arrest and conviction, respondent and her family have
sustained financial difficulties. They have difficulty maintaining housing and making ends
meet. She has had difficulty obtaining employment. As a consequence, she and her family
were required to move in with her parents, and her husband worked as many hours as
possible to support the family. Recently she had a part-time job, and she did not obtain full-
time employment until March 2015, She carns just above minimum wage. Her husband’s
work hours have been reduced during the summer, Given her employment situation and the
reduction of hours, it is very difficult for her family to make ends meet.

14,  The reasonable costs of investigation are $1,810.50. The reasonable costs of
prosecution are $2,252.50.

LEGAL CONCLUSIONS
The Purpas"e of Diséiplinary Procéedings
1. The purpose of an administrative disciplinary proceeding is not to. punish but

to protect the public from dishonest, immoral, disreputable or incompetent practitioners.
(Ettinger v. Board of Medical Quality Assurance (1982) 135 Cal.App.3d 853, 856.)

Burden and Standard of Proof

2. Complainant bears the burden of proof of establishing that the charges in the
accusation ate frue,

3. Business and Professions Code section 4038 defines a “pharmacy technician”
as “an individual who assists a pharmacist in a pharmacy in the performance of his or her
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pharmacy related duties as specified in section 4115.” Code section 4115 sets forth various
tasks a pharmacy technician may perform. For example, subdivision (a) provides “a
pharmacy technician may perform packaging, manipulative, repetitive, or other
nondiscretionary tasks, only while assisting, and while under the direct supervision and
control of, a pharmacist.” The duties a pharmacy technician may perform are further subject
to regulation.’ '

Business and Professions Code section 4115, subdivision (e) provides:

No person shall act as a pharmacy technician without first being registered with the board as
a pharmacy technician as set forth in-Section 4202.

The pharmacy technician'license may be dissued upon a showing of a minimal formal i

education, training, and experience,

4. A nonprofessional license typically is issued without the need to demonstrate
any specific education or skill and upon the mere showing of good character. In contrast, an
applicant for a professional license must ordinarily satisfy extensive educational and training
requirements, and then pass a rigorous state-administered competency examination. The
sharp distinction between professional licenses and nonprofessional licenses supports a
distinction in the standards of proof needed to revoke these two different types of licenses.
(Mann v. Department of Motor Vehicles (1999) 76 Cal.App.4th 312, 319.)

In determining the proper standard of proof to apply in administrative license
revocation proceedings, courts have drawn a distinction between professional licenses such
as those held by doctors, lawyers, and real estate brokers, on the one hand, and
nonprofessional or occupational licenses such as those held by food processors, and vehicle
salespersons, on the other hand. In proceedings to revoke professional licenses, the decision
makers apply the clear and convincing evidence standard of proof, while in proceedings to
revoke nonprofessional or occupational licenses, the decision makers apply the
preponderance of the evidence standard of proof. (Lone Star Sec. & Video, Inc. v. Bureau of
Security and Investigative Services (2012) 209 Cal.App.4th 445, 453.). . .

5. The standard of proof required to suspend or revoke the registration issued to a
pharmacy technician is a preponderance of:the evidence.

Statutory Authority

! “Nondiscretionary tasks” as used in Code section 41135, include:

(a) removing the drug or drugs from stock;

(b) counting, pouring, or mixing pharmaceuticals;
(c) placing the product into a container;

(d) affixing the label or labels to the container;
(e) packaging and repackaging.
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Business and Professions Code® section 490 states, in part:

(a) In addition to any other action that a board is permitted to
take against a licensee, a board may suspend or revoke a license
on the ground that the licensee has been convicted of a crime, if
the crime is substantially related to the qualifications, functions,
or duties of the business or profession for which the license was
issued.

(b) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, a board'may
exercise any authority to discipline a licensee for-conviction of a
crime that is independent of the authority granted under
subdivision (a) only if the crime is substantially related to the
qualifications, functions, or duties of the business or professmn
for which the licensee's license was issued.

(c) A conviction within the meaning of this section means a plea
or verdict of guilty or a conviction following a plea of nolo
contendere. An action that a board is permitted to take following
the establishment of a conviction may be taken when the time
for appeal has elapsed, or the judgment of conviction has been
affirmcd on appeal, or when an order granting probation is made
suspending the imposition of sentence, irrespective of a
subsequent order under Section 1203.4 of the Penal Code.

Code section 492 states:

Notwithstanding any other provision of law, successful

completion of any diversion program under the Penal Code, or

successful completion of an alcohol and drug problem

assessment program under Article 5 (commencing with Section .

23249.50) of Chapter 12 of Division 11 of the Vehicle Code,
shall not prohibit any agency established under Division 2
(commencing with Section 500) of this code, or any initiative
act referred to in that division, from taking disciplinary action
against a licensee or from denying a license for professional
misconduct, notwithstanding that evidence of that misconduct
may be recorded in a record pertaining to an arrest.

This section shall not be construed to apply to any drug
diversion program operated by any agency established under

2

Hereinafter, unless otherwise stated, all reference is to Business and
Professions Code.
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Division 2 (commencing with Section 500) of this code, or any
initiative act referred to in that division.

8. Code section 4060 states:

No person shall possess any controlled substance, except that i
furnished to a person upon the prescription of a physician,
dentist, podiatrist, optometrist, veterinarian, or naturopathic - !
doctor pursuant to Section 3640.7, or furnished pursuant {o a ;
drug order issued by a certified nurse-midwife pursuant to
Section 2746.51, a nurse practitioner pursuant to Section TR ;
2836.1, a physician assistant pursnant to Section 3502.1, a L
naturopathic doctor pursuant to Section 3640.5, or a pharmacist :
pursuant to.either Section 4052.1 or 4052.2. This section shall

not apply to the possession of any controlled substance by a

manufacturer, wholesaler, pharmacy, pharmacist, physician,

podiatrist, dentist, optometrist, veterinarian, naturopathic doctor,

certified nurse-midwife, nurse practitioner, or physician

assistant, when in stoek in confainers correctly labeled with the

name and address of the supplier or producer.

Nothing in this section authorizes a certified nurse-midwife, a
nurse practitioner, a physician assistant, or a naturopathic
doctor, to order his or her own stock of dangerous drugs and
devices.

9. Code section 4300 provides, in part, that every license issued by
the board is subject to discipline, including suspension or revocation.

10. Code section 43(0.1 states:

The expiration, cancellation, forfeiture, or suspension of a -
board-issued license by operation of law or by order or decision
of the board or a court of law, the placement of a license on a
retired status, or the voluntary surrender of a license by a
licensee shall not deprive the board of jurisdiction to commence
or proceed with any investigation of, or action or disciplinary
proceeding against, the licensee or to render a decision
suspending or revoking the license.

11.  Code section 4301 states, in pazt:

The board shall take action against any holder of a license who
is guilty of unprofessional conduct or whose license has been
procured by fraud or misrepresentation or issued by mistake.




Unprofessional conduct shall include, but is not limited to, any
of the following:

[1]...1]

(f) The commission of any act involving moral turpitude,
dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or corruption, whether the act is
committed in the course of relations as a licensee or otherwise,
and whether the act is a felony or misdemeanor or not.

[9]...09]

(h) The administering to oneself, of any controlled substance, or
the use of any dangerous drug or of alcoholic beverages to the
extent or in a manner as to be dangerous or injurious to oneself,
to a person holding a license under this chapter, or to any other
person or to the public, or to the extent that the use impairs the
ability of the person to conduct with safety to the public the
practice authorized by the license.

[]...[7]

(j) The violation of any of the statutes of this state, of any other
state, or of the United States regulating controlled substances
and dangerous drugs.

[1]...[7]

(I} The conviction of a crime substantially refated to the
qualifications, functions, and duties of a licensee under this
chapter. The record of conviction of a violation of Chapter 13
(commencing with Section 801) of Title 21 of the United States
Code regulating controlled substances or of a violation of the
statutes of this state regulating controlled substances or
dangerous drugs shall be conclusive evidence of unprofessional
conduct. In all other cases, the record of conviction shall be
conclusive evidence only of the fact that the conviction :
occurred. The board may inquire into the circumistances
surrounding the commission of the crime, in order-to fix the
degree of discipline or, in the case of a conviction not involving
controlled substances or dangerous drugs, to determine if the
conviction is of an offense substantially related to the
qualifications, functions, and duties of a licensee under this
chapter. A plea or verdict of guilty or a conviction following a
plea of nolo contendere is deemed to be a conviction within the

10



meaning of this provision. The board may take action when the
time for appeal has elapsed, orthe judgment of conviction has
been affirmed on appeal or when an order granting probation is
made suspending the imposition of sentence, irrespective of a
“subsequent order under Section 1203.4 of the Penal Code
allowing the person to withdraw his or her plea of guilty and to
enter a plea of not guilty, or seiting aside the verdict of guilty, or
dismissing the accusation, information, or indictment.

[7]...[7]

(o) Violating or attempting to violate, directly or indirectly, or |

b assisting in or abetting the violation of or conspiring to violate"

any provision or term of this chapter or of the applicable federal
and state laws and regulations governing pharmacy, including
regulations established by the board or by any other state or
federal regulatory agency. ...

12. Code section 4402 states:

{(a) Any pharmacist license that is not renewed within three years following its
expiration may not be renewed, restored, or reinstated and shall be canceled by
operation of law at the end of the three-year period.

(1] (]

(d) This section shall not affect the authority of the board to
proceed with any accusation that has been filed prlor to the
expiration of the three-year period.

(e) Any other license issued by the board may be canceled by the
board if the license is not renewed within 60 days after its
expiration. Any license canceled under this subdivision may not
be reissued. Instead, a new application will be required.

Regulatory Provision
13.  California Code of Regulations, title 16, section 1770 states:

~ For the purpose of denial, suspension, or revocation of a
personal or facility license pursuant to Division 1.5
(commencing with Section 475) of the Business and Professions
Code, a crime or act shall be considered substantially related to
the qualifications, functions or duties of a licensee or registrant
if to a substantial degtee it evidences present or potential
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unfitness of a licensee or registrant to perform the functions
authorized by his license or registration in a manner consistent
with the public health, safety, or welfare.

Controlled Substances/Dangerous Drugs

14.  Hydrocodone/APAP 10-325 is a Schedule II controlled substance as
designated in Health and Safety Code section 11056, subdivision (e)(2) and is categorized as
a dangerous drug pursuant to Health and Safety Code section 4022,

15.  Lorazepam is a Schedule IV controlled substance as designated by Health and
Safety Code section 11057, subdivision (d)(16), and is categorized as a dangerous drug
pursuant to Health and Safety. Code section 4022.

16.  Ondanestron is ccltegorzzed as a dangerous drug pursuant to Health and Safety
-Code section 4022.

Cause Exists to Impose Probation

17.  Pursuani to Business and Professions Code section 4300 and 4301, subdivision
(1), cause exists to discipline respondent in that she engaged in unprofessional conduct; she
has been convicted of a crime that is substantially related to the qualifications, functions or
duties of a pharmacy technician,

18, Pursuant to Code sections 4300 and 4301, subdivision (f), cause exists to
discipline respondent in that she engaged in unprofessional conduct; on December 21, 2012
she comumitted acts involving moral turpitude, dlshonesty, fraud or deceit with the intent to
substantially benefit herself.

19.  Pursuant to Code sections 4300 and 4301, subdivision (j), cause exists to
discipline respondent in that she engaged in unprofessmnal conduct; she violated Code
section 4060. g

20.  Pursuant to Code section 4300 and 4301, subdivision (h), cause exists to
discipline respondent in that she engaged in unprofessional conduct; she stole and consumed
a controlled substance while on duty as a pharmacy technician.

21, Respondent’s misconduct was significant. However, she provided significant
evidence of mitigation and rehabilitation. As such, it would not be contrary to the public
interest to allow respondent to practice as a pharmacy technician on probation with the terms
and conditions listed below.

The Reasonable Costs of Investigation and Prosecution

22, Code section 125.3 states in part:
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(a) Except as otherwise provided by law, in any order issued in
resolution of a disciplinary proceeding before any board within
the department or before the Osteopathic Medical Board, upon
request of the entity bringing the proceeding may request the
administrative law judge to direct a licentiate found to have
commitied a violation or violations of the licensing act to pay a
sum not to exceed the reasonable costs of the 1nvest1gat10n and
enforcement of the case, :

[TE]...[TI‘] Lo .‘...“'-

(c) A certified copy of the actual costs, or'a good faith estimate
of costs where actual costs are not available, signed by the entity
bringing the proceeding or its designated representative shall be
prima facie evidence of reasonable costs of investigation and
prosecution of the case, The costs shall include the amount of
investigative and enforcement costs up to the date of the
hearing, including, but not limited to, charges imposed by the
Attorney General. ...

23, The Office of Administrative Hearings has enacted a regulation for use when
cvaluating an agency’s requests for costs under Code section 125.3, California Code of
Regulations, title 1, section 1042, subdivision (b)(2) states that proof of costs at the hearing
may be made by Declarations that contain specific and sufficient facts to support findings
regarding actual costs incurred and the reasonableness of the costs, which shall be presented
as follows:

For services provided by persons who are not agency
employees, the Declaration shall be executed by the person
providing the service and describe the general tasks performed,

-the time spent on each task and the houtly rate or other
compensation for the service. In lieu of this Declaration, the
agency may attach to its Declaration copies of the time and
billing records submitted by the service provider.

24. . Inthis case, complainant seeks to recover the reasonable costs of mvestlgatlon
and enforcement in this case.

In Zuckerman v. State Board of Chiropractic Examiners (2002) 29 Cal.4th 32, the
Supreme Court held that a regulation imposing costs of investigation and enforcement under
California Code of Regulations, title 16, section 317.5 (which is similar to Bus. & Prof.
Code, § 125.3), did not violate due process. But, it was incumbent on the board to exercise
discretion to reduce or eliminate cost awards in a manner such that costs imposed did not
“deter [licensees] with potentially meritorious claims or defenses from exercising their right
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to a hearing.” The Court set forth four factors to consider in deciding whether to reduce or
eliminate costs: (1) whether the licensee used the hearing process to obtain dismissal of other
charges or a reduction in the severity of the discipline imposed; (2) whether the licensee had
a “subjective” good faith belief in the merits of her position; (3) whether the licensee raised a
“colorable challenge” to the proposed discipline; and (4) whether the licensee had the
finaricial ability to make payments. The reasoning of Zuckerman must be applied to
Business and Professions Code section 125.3 since the cost recovery regulation in
Zuckerman contains substantially the same language as that is set forth in Code section
125.3.

Under Zuckerman, it was established that respondent had a “subjective” good faith
belief in the merits of her position. In addition, she established that her ability to pay the
board’s costs of investigation and prosecution are limited.

The reasonable cost of investigation and enforcement is reduced to $500.

ORDER

No later than 60 days from the effective date of this Decision, respondent Mika Renee
Soliz shall apply for the issuance of a license as a pharmacy technician. Upon satisfaction of
all statutory and regulatory requirements, a license shall be issued to respondent and
immediately revoked; the order of revocation is stayed, and respondent is placed on
probation for three years on the following terms and conditions.

1. Certification Prior to Resuming Work

Respondent shall be automatically suspended from working as a pharmacy technician
until she is certified as defined by Code section 4202(a)(4) and provides satisfactory proof of
certification to the board. Failure to achieve certification within one year shall be considered
a violation of probation. Respondent Shall not resume working as a pharmacy technician
until notified by the board.

During suspension, respondent shall not enter any pharmacy area or any portion of
any other board licensed premises (wholesaler, veterinary food-animal drug retailer or any
other distributor of drugs) any drug manufacturer, or any other location where dangerous
drugs and devices or controlled substances are maintained. Respondent shall not do any act
involving drug selection, selection of stock, manufacturing, compounding or dispensing; nor
shall respondent manage, administer, or assist any licensee of the board. Respondent shall
not have access to or control the ordering, manufacturing or dispensing of dangerous drugs
and devices or controlled substances. Respondent shall not resume work until notified by the
board.
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Subject to the above restrictions, respondent may continue to own or hold an interest
in any licensed premises by the board in which she holds an interest at the time this decision
becomes effective unless otherwise specified in this order.

Failure to comply with this suspension shall be considered a violation of
probation.

2. Obey All Laws,
Respondent shall obey all State and Federal laws and regulations.

Respondent shall report any of the followmg events to the board, in writing, within 72
hours of such occurtence: RS

. an arrest or issuance of a criminal complaint for violation
of any provision of the Pharmacy Law, State and Federal food
and drug laws, or State and Federal controlled substances laws,

) a plea of guilty or nolo contendere to any criminal
complaint, information or indictment in any State or Federal
criminal proceeding,

o a conviction of any crime, and

. discipline, citation or other administrative action filed by
any State or Federal Agency which involves respondent’s
pharmacy technician license or which is related to the practice
of pharmacy ot the manufacturing, obtaining, handling,
distributing, billing or charging for any drug, device or
controlled substance

~ Failure to timely report any such occurrence shall be considered a violation of
probation.

3. Report to the Board.

Respondent shall report to the board, on a quarterly basis, on the schedule directed by
the board or its designee. The report shall be in person or in writing as the board or its
designee directs. Among other requirements, respondent shall state in each report, under
penalty of perjury, whether there has been compliance with all the terms and conditions of
probation. Failure to submit timely reports in the form directed by the board or its designee
shall be considered a violation of probation. Any period(s) of delinquency in submission of
teports as directed by the board or its designee may be added to the period of probation. If
the final probation report is not made as directed, probation shall be automatically extended
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until such time as the final report is made and accepted by the board.
4. Interview with the Board.

Upon receipt of reasonable prior notice, respondent shall appear in person for
interviews with the board or its designee, at such intervals and locations as determined by the
board or its designee. Failure to appear for any scheduled interview without prior

.notification to board statf, or failure to appear at two or more scheduled.interviews with the
board or its designee during the period of probation, shall be considered a violation of
. probation. s

5. Cooperate with Board Staff.

Respondent shall cooperate with the board's inspection program and with the board's
monitoring and investigation of her compliance with the terms and conditions of her
probation. Failure to cooperate shall be considered a violation of probation.

6. Notice to Employers.

During the period of probation, respondent shall notify all present and prospective
employers of the Decision in case number 4935 and the terms and conditions imposed on her
by the Decision, as follows:

“ Within 30 days of the effective date of this Decision, and
within 15 days of respondent undertaking new employment, she
shall cause her direct supervisor, pharmacist-in-charge
(including each new pharmacist-in-charge employed during
respondent’s tenure of employment) and owner to report to the
board, in writing, acknowledging that the individual(s) has/have
read the Decision in case number 4935 and the terms and
conditions imposed thereby. It shall be respondent’s
responsibility to ensure that her employer(s) and/or . :
supervisor(s) submit timely acknowledgement(s) to the board.

) If respondent works for or is employed by or through a
pharmacy employment service, respondent must notify her
direct supervisor, pharmacist-in-charge and owner at every
pharmadcy of the terms and conditions of the Decision in case
number 4935 in advance of respondent commencing work at
each pharmacy. A record of this notification must be provided
to the board upon request.

. Within 30 days of the effective date of this Decision, and
within 15 days of respondent undertaking new employment by

16




or through a pharmacy employment service, respondent shall
cause her direct supervisor with the pharmacy employment
service to report to the board in writing acknowledging that she
has read the Decision in case number 4935 and the terms and
conditions imposed thereby. It shall be respondent’s
responsibility to ensure that her employer(s) and/or
supervisor(s) submit timely acknowledgment(s) to the board.

Failure to timely ndtify present or prospective employer(s) or to cause that/those
employer(s) to submit timely-acknowledgements to the board shall be considered a violation
of probation. -

Within the meaning of this provision, “Employment" shall include full-time, part-
time, and temporary or relief service or pharmacy management service as a pharmacy
technician or in any position for which a pharmacy technician registration is a requirement or
criterion for employment, whether respondent is considered an employee, independent
contractor or volunteer.

7. Attend Substance Abuse and Rélapse Prevention and Support Groups.

Within 30 days of the effective date of this Decision, respondent shail begin regular
attendance at a recognized and established substance abuse recovery support group in
California, (e.g., Alcoholics Anonymous, Narcotics Anonymous, etc.) which has been
approved by the board or its designee. Respondent must attend at least one group meeting
per week unless otherwise directed by the board or its designee. Respondent shall continue
regular attendance and submit signed and dated documentation confirming attendance with
each quarterly report for the duration of probation. Failure to attend or submit
documentation thereof shall be considered a violation of probation.

8. Random Drug Screening.

At her expense, respondent shall participate in.random testing, including but not
limited to biological fluid testing (urine, blood), breathalyzer, hair follicle testing, or other
drug screening program as directed by the board or its designee. Respondent may be
required to participate in testing for the entire probationary period, and the board or its
designee shall determine the frequency of testing.. Respondent shall cooperate fully with the
board or its designee. When directed by the board or its designee, respondent shall submit to
such tests and samples for the detection of alcohol, narcotics, hypnotics, dangerous drugs or
other controlled substances as the board or its:designee may direct. Failure to timely submit
to testing as directed shall be considered a violation of probation. Upon request of the board
or its designee, respondent shall provide documentation from a licensed practitioner that the
prescription for a detected drug was legitimately issued and is a necessary part of
respondent’s treatment. Failure to timely provide such documentation shall be considered a
violation of probation. Any confirmed positive test for alcohol or for any drug not lawfully
prescribed by a licensed practitioner as part of a documented medical treaiment shall be
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considered a violation of probation and shall result in the automatic suspension of work by
respondent as a pharmacy technician. Thereafter, respondent shall not resume work as a
pharmacy technician until notified by the Board in writing,.

During suspension, respondent shall not enter any pharmacy area or any portion of or
any other board licensed premises (wholesaler, veterinary food-animal drug retailer or any
other distributor of drugs) any drug manufacturer, or any other location where dangerous
drugs and devices or controlled substances are maintained. Respondent shall not do any act
involving drug selection, selection of stock, manufacturing, compounding or dispensing; nor
shall respondent manage, administer or assist any licensee of the board. Respondent shall
not have access to or control the ordering, manufacturing or dispensing of dangerous drugs
and devices or controlled substances.

Respondent shall not direct, control, or perform any aspect.of the practice of
pharmacy. Subject to the above restrictions, respondent may continue to own or hold an
interest in any licensed premises in which she holds an interest at the time this Decision
becomes effective unless otherwise specified in this Order.

Failure to comply with this suspension shall be considered a violation of probation.
9. Work Site Monitor.

Within 10 days of the effective date of this Decision or within 10 days of obtaining
employment as a pharmacist technician (whichever occurs first), respondent shall identify a
work site monitor, who must be approved by the board. The work site monitor shall be
responsible for supervising respondent during working hours. Respondent shall be
responsible for ensuring that the work site monitor reports, in writing, to the board on a
quarterly basis. Should the designated work site monitor determine, at any time during the
probationary period, that respondent has not maintained sobriety, he/she shall notify the
board-immediately, either orally or in writing, as the board or its designee directed. Should
respondent change employment, a new work site monitor must be designated and approved
by the board within 10 days of respondent commencing new employment. Failute; to identify
an acceptable initial or replacement work site monitor or to ensure quarterly reports are ‘
submitted by the work site monitor to the board in a timely manner shall be constitute a
violation of probation. L

_ 40, Notification of Departure. o
Prior to leaving the probationary geographic area designated by the board or its
designee for a period greater than five days, respondent shall notify the board verbally and in
writing of the dates of departure and return. Failure to comply with this provision shall be
considered a violation of probation.

11, Abstain from Drugs and Alcohol.
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Respondent shall abstain from the possession or use of alcohol, controlled substances,
dangerous drugs and associated paraphernalia except when the drugs are lawfully prescribed
by a licensed practitioner as part of documented medical treatment of respondent. Upon
request of the board or its designee, respondent shall provide documentation from the
licensed practitioner that the prescription for the drug was legitimately issued and is a
necessary part of respondent’s treatment. Failure to provide such documentation in a timely
manner shall be considered a violation of probation. Any possession or use of alcohol,
controlled substances or associated paraphernalia not supported by the documentation
provided in a timely manner shall be considered a violation of probation. v

12. Reimbursement of Board Costs.

As acondition precedent to successful completion of probation, respondent shall pay

the board’s costs of investigation and enforcement in the amount of $500.00. No later than :'-

30 days of the effective date of this Decision, respondent shall commence making equal
monthly payments of the foregoing. There shall be no deviation from this schedule without
prior written approval by the board or its designee. Failure to pay costs by the deadline(s) as
directed shall be considered a violation of probation.

The filing of bankruptey by respondent shall not relieve her obligation to reimburse
the board’s costs of investigation and enforcement.

13.  Probation Monitoring Costs.

Respondent shall pay any costs associated with probation monitoring as determined
by the board for each year of probation. Such costs shall be payable to the board on a
schedule directed by the board or its designee. Failure to pay such costs in a timely manner
shall be considered a violation of probation. .

14, Status of License.

While on probation, respondent shall maintain an active, current pharmacy technician ..

license with the board. Failure to dos so shall be considered a violation of probation. *
During the period of probation, if respondent’s pharmacy technician license expires or
is cancelled by operation of law or otherwise, upon renewal or reapplication respondent's
license shall be subject to all terms and conditions of this probation not previously satisfied.
15.  Notify the Board of Successful Completion of Criminal Probation.
No Iater than 60 days prior to termination of probation, respondent shall provide
documentation to establish that she has successfully completed probation in criminal case

number MVA1301068.

16.  License Surrender While Registration is on Probation/Suspension.
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Following the effective date of this Decision, should respondent cease work due to
retirement or health or otherwise be unable to satisfy the terms and conditions of probation,
Respondent may tender her pharmacy technician registration to the board for surrender. The
board or its designee shall have the discretion whether to grant the request for surrender or to
take other appropriate and reasonable action. Upon acceptance of the surrender of her
license, respondent will no longer be subject to the terms and conditions of probation. The
surrender of her license will constitute a record of discipline and shall become a part of the
respondent’s license history with the board.

Within 10 days of notification by the:board of ifs acceptance of respondent’s
surrender of her license, respondent shall relinquish her pharmacy technician license to the
board. Respondent may not re-apply for any license, permit, or registration from the board
for three years from the effective date of the surtender. Respondent shall satisfy the
requirements applicable to the license sought as of the date the application for that license is
submitted to the board. -'

. 17.  Notification of Change in Name, Residence Address, Mailing Address or
Employment. -

Within 10 days of any change of employment, respondent shall notify the board in
writing. Said notification shall include the reasons for leaving, the address of the new
employer, the name of the supervisor and owner, and work schedule, if known. Further,
respondent shall notify the board in writing within 10 days of a change in name, residence
address and mailing address or telephone number.

Failure to timely notify the board of any change in employer, name, address, or
telephone number shall be considered a violation of probation.

18.  Tolling of Probation.

Except during any period of suspension, at all times while on probation, respondent
shall maintain employment as a pharmacy technician in the State of California for a
minimum of eighty (80) hours per calendar month. Any month during which this minimum
is not met shall toll the probationary period, i.e., the period of probation shall be extended by
one month for each month during which this minimum is not met. During any period of
tolting probation, respondent must comply with all terms and conditions of probation.

Should respondent cease working as a pharmacy technician for a minimum of 80
hours per calendar month in California, respondent must notify the board in writing within
10 days of cessation of work and must notify the board in writing within 10 days of the
resumption of employment. Any failure to provide such notification(s) shall be considered a
violation of probation.

It shall be a violation of probation for respondent's probationary period to remain
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tolled for more than 36 months.

"Cessation of work" means a calendar month during which respondent does not work
a minimum of 80 hours as a pharmacy technician (as defined in Code section 4115.)
*Resumption of work” means any calendar month during which respondent works as a
pharimacy technician for a minimum of 80 hours (as defined by Code section 4115).

19. Yiolation of Probation,

If respondent violates the conditions of her probation, after giving her notice and an
«. Ppportunity to be heard, the board may set aside the order and impose.the stayed discipline of
+ respondent’s license. During probation, if an Accusation or Petition to Revoke Probation is
filed against respondent’s license or the Attorney General’s Office has been requested to
prepére an Accusation or Petition to Revoke Probation against respondent, the probationary
period shall automatically be extended and shall not expire until the Accusation or Petition to
Revoke Probation has been resolved by a board Decision.

20,  Completion of Probation.

Upon written notice by the board indicating successful completion of probation,
respondent’s pharmacy technician license shall be fully restored.

DATED: June 30, 2015

VALLERA J. JOHNSOK™
Administrative Law Judge

Office of Administrative Hearings
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KaMaLa D, HARRIS

Attorney General of California

MARC GREENBAUM

Supervising Deputy Attorney General

Christina Thomas

Deputy Attorney General
300 So, Spring Strest, Suite 1702
Los Angeles, CA 90013 -
Telephone: (213) 897-8944
Facsimile: {213) 897-2804

Altorneys for domp!afnam

- BEFORE THE
‘ BOARD OF PHARMACY
" DEPARTMENT QF CONSUMER AFFAIRS
» STATE OF CALIFORNIA
In the Matter of the Accusation Against: Case No. 4935
MIKA RENEE SOLIZ ACCUSATION
30532 Laramie Ave, -
Redlands, CA 92374
Pharmacy Techniclan Registration
No. TCH 24839
Respondent.
Complainant alleges;
PARTIES

1, Virglnia Herold (Complainant) brings this Accusation solely in her official capacity
as the Executive Officer of the Board of Fharmscy, Department of Consumer Affairs.
2. Onor about January 15, 1998, the Board of Pharmacy (Boad) issued Pharmacy
Techrician Registration No, TCH 24839 to Mika Renee Soliz (Respon.dent). The Pharmacy
Technician Registration sxpired on May 31, 2013, and has not been renewed.

JURISDICTION

3. This Accusation is brought before the Board under the authority of the following
laws., All section references are to the Business and Professions Code unless otherwise Indicated,

i
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STATUTORY PROVISIONS

4. Section 490 states, in pertinent part:

"(8) In addition to any other action that a board is permitted to take against g licenses, a
board may suspend or revoke a license on the ground that the licensee has been convicted of a
crime, ifthe crime is substantially related to th_d qualifications, functions, or duties of the business
or profession for which the license was issued. _

"(b) Notwithstanding any other provis-i‘on of law, a board may exetcise any authority to
discipline a licensee for-conviction of a crime that is inde[;endent of the authority granted under
subdivision (a) only if the crime {s substantially related to;'i;ﬁe qualifications, functions, or duties
of the business or profession for which the icensee's license was issued,

"(¢) A-conviction within the meaning of this section means a plea or verdict of guilty or a
conviction following a plea of nolo contendelie.;f-\ny action that a board is permitted to take
following the esfablishment of a conviction may be taken when the time for appeal has elapsed, or
the judgment of conviction has beer affirmed on appeal, or when an order granting probation is
made suspending the imposition of sentence, irrespective of a subsequent order under the
prm'iéions of Section 1203.4 of the Penal Code."

5. Sectlon 492 States:‘

"Notwithstanding any other provision of law, suceessful completion of any diversion
program under the Penal Code, or successful compietion of an alcohol and drug problem
assessment program under Article 5 (commencing with section 23249.5‘0:) of Chapter 12 of
Division 11 of the Vehicle Code, shall not pr@hib’if any éigency'estab]ished'{x-hide'r Division 2
([Healing Aris] commencing with Seetion 500) of this cods, or any initiative act referred to in that
diviston, from taking disciplinaljy'actioﬁ against a licensee of from c_Iépying a license for
professional misconduct, notwithstanding that evidence of that misc(;nduct lﬁay be recorded in a
record pettaining to an arrest.

"This section shall not be construed to apply to any drug diVGI:”'SiOI‘I program operated by any
agency established under Division 2 (commencing with Section 500) of this code, or any initiative
act referred to in that division,"

2 Accusation
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6,  Section 4060 states:

"No person shall possess any controlled substance, except that furnished to a person upon
the prescription of a physician, dentist, podiatrist, optometrist, veterinarian, or naturopathic doctor
pursuant to Section 3640.7,or furnished pursuant to a drug order issued by a certified
nurse-midwife pursuant to Section 2746.51, a nurse practitioner pursuant to St?,_t:tion 2836.1,0ra

physician assistant pursvant to Section 3502.1, or naturopathic doctor pursuant to Section 3640.5,

OF 8 pharmacist pursuant to either subparagraph (D) of paragraph (4) of, or,clauséﬁ-_(i\}) of

subparagraph (A) of paragraph (3) of, subdivision (a) of Section 4052, This seotion shall not
apply to the possession of any controlled substance by a manufacturer, wholesaler, pharm;siéy,
pharmacist, physician, podiatrist, dentist, optometrist, veterinarian, naturopathic doctor, certified
nurse-midwife, nurse practitioner, or physician assistant, when in stock in containers correctly
labeled with the name and address of the supplier or producer, | | |

"Nothing in this section authorizes a certified nurse-midwife, a nurse practitioner, a
physician assistant, or a naturopathic doctor, to order his or het own stock of dangerous drugs and
devices."

7. Section 4300 provides, in pertinent patt, that every license issued by the Board is
subject to discipline, including suspension or revocation.

8. Section 4300.1 states:

“The expiration, cancellation, forfeiture, or susi:)ension of a board-issued license by
operation of law or by order or decision of the board or a court of law, the placement of a Heense
“oh a retired status, or the voluntaty sustendet of a license by a licensee shall not tfi_é‘pfive the board

of jurisdiction to commence or proceed with any investigation of, or action or disciplinary
proceeding against, the licensge or to render a decision suspendi.ng or revoking the license,"

9, Section 4301 states, in pertinent part:

"The beard shall take acticn against any holder of a license who is gullty of ﬁnprof‘essional
condust or whoss license has been procured by fraud or misrepresentation or issved by mistake,

Unprofessional conduct shall include, but is not limited to, any of the following:

3 Acousation
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*(f) The commission of any act involving moral turpitude, dishonesty, fiaud, deceit, or
corruption, whether the act is committed in the course of relations as 2 licensee or otherwise, and

whether the act is a felony or misdemeanor or not,

"(h) The administering to oneself, of any controlled substance, or the use of any dangerous
drug or of alcoholic beverages to the extent or in a manner as to be'dangerous or injurious to
oneself, to a person holding a !%i'cé“nse under this chapter, or to any other person or to the public, or
to the extent that the use impairs the ability of the person to conduct with safety to the public the

practice authorized by the license,

"(j) The violaticn of any of the statutes of this state, or any other state, or of the United

States regulating controlled substances and dangerous drugs.

"(f) The conviction of a crime substantially related to the qualifications, functions, and -
duties of a licensee under this chapter. The record of conviction of a violation of Chapter 13
(commencing with Section 801) of Title 21 of the United States Code regulating controlled
substances or of a violation of the statutes of this state regulating controlled substances or
dangerous drugs shall be conclusive evidence of unprofessional conduct. In all other eases, the
record of conviction shall be conclusive evidence only of the fact that the conviction occurred.
The board may inquire into the circumstances surrounding the commission of the crime, in order
to fix the degree of discipline ;(;)i', in the case of a conviction not involying controlled substances ot
dangerous drugs, to determine if the conviction is of an offense substantially related to the
qualifications, functions, and duties af'a licensee under this chapter. A plea or verdict of guilty or
a convietion following a plear of nolo contendere is deemed to be a conviction within the maanin.g
of thiz provision. The board may take action :when the time for appeal has elapsed, or the
judgment of conviction has been affirmed on appeal or when an order granting probation is made
suspending the impoesition of sentence, irrespective of a subsequent order under Section 1203.4 of

the Penal Code allowing the person to withdraw his or her plea of guilty and to enter a plea of not
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[ puesuant 1o section 4022,

guilty, ot setting aside the verdict of guilty, or dismissing the accusation, information, or

indictment,

“(0) Vielating or attempting to violate, directly or indirectly, or assisting in ot abetting the
violation of or conspiring to violate any provision or term of this chapter or of the applicable
federal and state laws and regulations governing pharmacy; including regulations established by
the board or by any other state or federal regulatory agency.” = - i

REGULATORY PROVISIONS ..

10, California Code of Regulations, title 16, section 1770, states:

"For the purpose of dénial, suspension, er revocation of a personal or facility license
putsuant to Division 1.5 (commencing with Section 475) of the Business and Professions Code, a
erime cr act shall be considered substantially related to the'qualifications, functions or duties of a
licensee or registrant if to a substantial degree it evidences present or potential unfitness of a
licensee or registrant to perform the functions authorized by his license or registration in a iﬁanne.r
consistent with the public health, safety, ot welfare."

COST RECOVERY

11, Section 125.3 of the Code provides, in pettinent part, that the Board may request the

administrative law judge to direct a licentiate found to have committed a violation or violations of |

the licensing act to pay a sum not to exceed the reasonable costs of the investigation and

enforcement of the case, with failure of the licentiate to comply subjecting the license to not being

in¢luded in a stipulated settlement.

12.  CONTROLLED SUBSTANCES/DANGERQUS DRUGS

- a. " “Hydrocodone/APAP 10-325” is a Schedule IIT controlled substance as designated in

Health and Safety Code section 1105 6, subdivision (e)(2) and is categorized as a dangerous drug

1
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b, “Lorazepam,” is a Schedule IV controlled substance as designated by Health .amd‘
Safety Code section 11057, subdiyision {d)(16), and is categorized as a dangerous drug pursuant
to section 4022,

C, “Ondanestron,” is categorized as a dangergus drug pursuant to section 4022,

FIRST CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE

(Conviction of a Substantially Related Crime)

. 13. . Respondent is subject to disciplinary action under sections 4300, 4301, subdivision )
ang-490; in conjunction with California Code of Regulations, title 16, section 1770,.in thatr'
Resppndent has been convicted of a crime substantially related to the qualifications, functions or
duties of a pharmacy technician, as follows,

a.  Onorabout May 29, 2013, Respondent was convicted of one misdemeanor count of
violating Penal Code section 484, subdivision (a) [petty theft] in the criminal proceeding entitled
The People of the State of California v. Mika Renee Soliz (Super. Ct. San Bernardino County,
2013, No, MVA1301068.) The Court sentenced Respondent to serve two days in San Bernardino
County Jail and placed her on 36 months probation, with terms and conditions.

b, The circumstances surrounding the conyiction are that on or abeut December 2t,
2012, Respondent was working as a Pharmacy Techniclan at Super Rx Pharmagy, in Fontana,
CA. She was observed entering the stock aisle.s and selected a bott]é of medication from the
shell. Respondent retur.ned to the counter, opened the container and poﬁred the gontents on the -
counter, and then put the pills back into the contalner without filling a preseription, Respo‘nde.nt
repeated the acts with a bottle of Hydrocodone/APAP, concealing some pills in her hand, arid then
went to the back of the pharmacy Eefpre placing the contaiﬁer back on the shelf. The store
investigator detained Respondent and guestioned her about the pills. Respondent admiited to
removing two types of medication from the pharmacy without a prescription or permission.
Respondent indicated she'had taken 8 pills of Ondanestron, that she had placed in her pocket and
five Hydrocodone/APAP | @325, which she admitted to immedia;ccly consuming, Respondent
was subsequently arrested for violatiné Penal Code section 503 [embezzlement] and Health and

Safety Code section 11350, subdivision (a) [possession of a controlled substance]. During the
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Ondansetron HCL, 4mg, which contained Lorazepam pills. Respondent admitted to stealing

booking procedure Respondent was asked if she had any othér pills in her possession, Respondent
handed the officer a prescription bottle from her purse which read Mothocarbamol 500mg with
her name on it, that contalned 19 tablets of Hydrocodone/APAP 10-325 that she had taken from

the pl;iarmacy on a different day. In addition, Respondent provided another bottle that read

medication from the pharmacy since July, 2012,

SECOND CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE

{Acts Involving Moral turpitude, Dishonesty, Frand, or Deceit)

14, Respondent is subject to disciplinary action under section 4300, and 4301,
subdivision (f), in that on or about December 21, 2012, Respondent committed acts involving
moral turpitude, dishonesty, fraud, or deceit with the intent to substantially benefit herself, or
substantially injure another. Complainant refers to, and by reference incorporates, the allegations
set forth above in paragraph 13, subparagraph (b), as though set forth fully.

THIRD CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE,

(ltlegal Possession Ofa Controlled Substance)

15.  Respondent is subject to disclplinary action under section 4300 and 4301, subdivision
(j) for violating section 4060, as follows:

a,  Onorabout December 21, 2012, Respondent was found to be in ilIegal' possession of
a controlled substance. Complainant refers to, and by this reference incorporates, the allegations
set forth above in paragraph 13, subparsgraph (b), as though set forth fully,

b, Subsequently, on or about May.29, 2013, afier pleading gullty, thé Court placed -
Respondent on 36 months Defert'éd Entry of Judgment for violating Health and Safety Code
seetion 11350, subdivision (a) [poésession of a controlled subst‘ancg} in the criminé.l proceeding
entitled The Peop!é of the State of Califormia v. Mika Rence Soliz .(Super. Ct. San Bernardino
County, 2013, No. FYA1300380).
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FOURTH CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE
(Usernder the Influence of Controlled Substances)

16, Respondent is subject to disciplinary action under section 4301, subdivision ¢h), in
that on or about December 21, 2011, Respondent by her own admission used and/or was under the
influence of a controlled substance when she took five Hydrocodone piils from her place of
employment and immediately cons;umed them. Complainant refers td, and by this reference
incotporates, the allegations set forth above in paragraph 13, subparagraph (b), as though set forth
fully. '

PRAYER

WHEREFORE, Complainant requests that a hearing be held on the matters herein alleged,
and that following the hearing, the Board issue a decision:

1. Revoking or suspending Pharmacy Technician Registration No, TCH 24839, issued
to Mika Renes Soliz; |

2. Ordering Mika Renee Soliz to pay the Board the reasonable costs of the investigation
and emforcement of this case, pursuant to section 125.3; and

3. Taking such other and further action as deemed necessary and propet.

ot ko tdtd

VIRGINI I[FROLD

Ex cu‘mve flicer

Boar harmacy
Department of Consumer Affalrs
State of California

Complainant
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